# Request for Proposal

# RFP 138839 – Land & Permits Management System Issued by LUMA Energy ServCo, LLC

Date Initial RFP Issued: December 28, 2022 Proposal Submissions Due: January 30, 2023

lumapr.com



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1. INTRODUCTION
2. BACKGROUND & PURPOSE
3. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
4. CONTRACT TERM
5. NOTICE OF INTENT TO BID
6. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL SUBMISSION4
7. RFP TIMELINE
8. GENERAL EXPECTATIONS6
9. SCOPE OF SERVICES
10. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS, EVALUATION, & SELECTION PROCESS
11. EVALUATION CRITERIA12
12. PROPOSAL CLARIFICATION REQUESTS13
13. INTERVIEW
14. SELECTION OF PROPONENTS FOR NEGOTIATIONS
15. RIGHT TO REJECT PROPOSAL14
16. CONFIDENTIALITY OF RESPONSES & PROPRIETARY INFORMATION14
17. CONFLICT(S) OF INTEREST
18. SUBMITTAL OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION16
19. NO LOBBYING, NO COLLUSION, & NO PROHIBITED ACTS
20. SAFETY, HEALTH, & ENVIRONMENT REGULATIONS17
21. DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, & INELIGIBILITY
22. ATTACHMENTS & EXHIBITS



### **1. INTRODUCTION**

LUMA Energy ServCo, LLC ("LUMA") is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, acting as an agent to the Puerto Rico Electric Power Authority ("PREPA"), a public corporation and government instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, created by Act 83 of May 2, 1941, as amended (Act 83).

Proponents are advised that LUMA is engaged with PREPA under the Operations and Maintenance Agreement, effective June 22, 2020 (the "OMA", a copy of which can be viewed at <u>https://www.p3.pr.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/executed-consolidated-om-agreement-td.pdf</u>). LUMA is currently operating Puerto Rico's Electric Transmission and Distribution system on behalf of PREPA.

LUMA must provide electric power in a safe, efficient, reliable, and cost-effective manner, contributing to the general welfare and sustainability of Puerto Rico.

#### 2. BACKGROUND & PURPOSE

This Request for Proposal ("RFP") is issued to solicit Proposals from responsible and qualified companies ("Proponent") to complete the work outlined in this document.

Currently, LUMA Land & Permits department manages all land acquisition requests, eminent domain cases, land disputes, right of way certifications and operational/capital projects permits. A Land & Permits management system will enhance LUMA's capabilities of tracking permits, land acquisitions and encroachment. At the moment there is no system in place to manage all cases/requests, current process involve multiple spreadsheets and SharePoint lists with the data that will need to be migrated to the new proposed system.

Upon commencement of the contract, the successful Proponent shall provide a configurable solution to track all Land and Permits transactions. This solution needs to be web based and have capability for data field collection. Having offline capabilities would be preferred.

#### 2.1 Overall Scope

- a. Comply with cyber security requirements established by LUMA.
- b. Deliver a system that has:
  - 1. Ability to track project/operational permits; the information needs to be searchable based on key fields
  - 2. Able to store and update landowner's data; data needs to be linked to an asset and parcel
  - 3. Ability to add payment information linked to a project, parcel, or landowner
  - 4. Able to manage information regarding land acquisition process and status
  - 5. Able to manage encroachment from identification to resolution
  - 6. Able to integrate with LUMA Esri GIS
  - 7. Able to serve as a follow up system for new projects/cases

Contracts may be awarded to those qualified persons or legal entities whose Proposals are in accordance with this RFP and offer the greatest total value to LUMA. In their Proposals, Proponents shall demonstrate their capacity to provide all work in compliance with the Section 9, "Scope of Services" described in this RFP. LUMA will evaluate and analyze the information provided in the Proposals and determine which Proposals meet the minimum requirements.

The RFP shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws in force in the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the federal laws of the United States of America, applicable therein.

#### **3. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY**

This RFP contains confidential and proprietary information of LUMA, which is provided for the sole purpose of permitting the Proponent to respond to this RFP. The Proponent agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the information and to not disclose this information to any person outside the Proponent's team directly responsible for preparing the Proposal for this RFP. This document can only be used to prepare the Proposal for this RFP.



### 4. CONTRACT TERM

In the event that LUMA decides to execute a contract for the RFP Land & Permits Management System, it will be effective for three (3) years from the effective date of the contract. The contract may include LUMA's option for two (2) one-year extensions if mutually agreed upon by both parties, subject to Proponent's satisfactory performance, availability of funds, and required authorizations according to LUMA's rules and regulations.

A draft of the LUMA Professional Services Contract, excluding service descriptions and associated pricing details that will be determined during the contracting phase, will be included with this RFP as Attachment E – Draft Contract. Section 10.1.4, "Draft Contract", provides details on submission requirements related to the Draft Contract.

A proponent shall state in its proposal any and all exceptions it may have to the terms and conditions of the proposed contract. If the proponent does not state an exception at that time, the proponent is deemed to have accepted all the terms and conditions to which no exception was made, and these terms and conditions will be binding on the proponent if the proposed contract is awarded to it and executed. No negotiations will be admitted of a term and condition to which the proponent made no exception in its proposal. If the exceptions made by the proponent to the terms and conditions of the proposed contract are deemed to be excessive in kind, in number, or in materiality, that by itself will be a sufficient reason for the contract not to be awarded to the proponent. An exception means any change, amendment, or variation or proposed substitution, replacement, or elimination of a term and condition. When an exception is made, the proponent shall state the reasons for the exception, and if the proponent fails to state them, the exception will be deemed as if it had not been made. No exceptions are allowed after the proponent makes its proposal.

#### **5. NOTICE OF INTENT TO BID**

Proponents shall confirm their intent to submit a proposal in response to this RFP by submitting to LUMA a completed version of the form set forth in Attachment G – Notice of Intent to Bid. The completed form must be submitted through the **Messaging** tab in PowerAdvocate® on or before the deadline for submission set forth in Section 7, "RFP Timeline", Monday, January 16, 2023, proponent will not be considered after submission date.

#### 6. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL SUBMISSION

Proponent shall submit its Proposal through the corresponding tab of the RFP 138839 event on the PowerAdvocate® platform, as noted in the table below. All Proposal documents, including the price offer, discounts, and other requested details must be submitted via PowerAdvocate® on or before the due date noted in Section 7, "RFP Timeline". LUMA will not accept Proposals (i) received after the specified date and time or (ii) submitted through the **Messaging** tab (which is exclusive for communications), and such Proposals will be disqualified from further evaluation.

In addition to the above, Proponents must provide:

 A copy of each of the following sections of the Proposal through the tab of the event No. 138839 on PowerAdvocate® as indicated below. Proponents must upload all applicable supporting documents or attachments of each section in the corresponding tab.

Proposal Section	PowerAdvocate® Document Type
10.1.1 Approach to Services Fulfillment	Commercial Information
10.1.2 Approach to Account Management	Commercial Information
10.1.3 Response Sheet	Commercial Information
10.1.4 Draft Contract	Commercial Information
10.1.5 Supplementary Information	Commercial Information
10.1.6 Redacted Copy	Commercial Information
10.1.7 Requirement of Legal Entities	Commercial Information
10.1.8 Required Qualifications of Proponents	Commercial Information

Pricing Data

The PowerAdvocate® guide is included as Attachment A of this RFP. For technical assistance with the sourcing platform application please contact PowerAdvocate®'s technical support at (857) 453-5800, or by email at: <u>support@poweradvocate.com</u>. It is the Proponent's responsibility to ensure that their Proposal documents are fully uploaded before the closing date and time of the event.

#### 6.1 <u>Question & Answer Period(s)</u>

10.1.9 Pricing

Note that a Proponent may submit question(s) to LUMA for explanation or interpretation of any matter contained in this RFP through one (1) Question and Answer ("Q&A") periods, as described in Section 7, "RFP Timeline". Proponent should submit each question in the Q&A form via PowerAdvocate® through the **Messaging** tab of RFP 138839 event.

Proponents must submit their questions in the Q&A form included in Attachment B. This document must be submitted in Microsoft Excel format and each question must reference the RFP page number, section of the RFP document, RFP Attachment, or section of the draft contract.

If responses to the questions constitute a modification or additional information to the original RFP, LUMA will provide such clarification through an addendum posted on PowerAdvocate® based on the timeline specified in Section 7, "RFP Timeline". Questions from Proponents must not contain proprietary information because the answers may be published in the public domain. Please note that LUMA does not guarantee answers to all questions or comments received. Be advised that LUMA will not accept any questions that are not submitted as stated in this section.

#### 6.2 <u>Addenda</u>

LUMA reserves the right to modify the RFP documents up to three (3) days prior to the closing date of the event.

It is the sole responsibility of the Proponent to monitor the event in PowerAdvocate® for additional information, updates, or modifications concerning this RFP. Any changes or modifications to this RFP's terms, conditions, or specifications will be made through addenda posted on PowerAdvocate®.

#### 6.3 <u>Communications</u>

For this RFP, all communications must be made through the **Messaging** tab of PowerAdvocate® and addressed to LUMA's designated Procurement Representatives for this RFP:

#### Génesis J. Miranda & Vinitsa Cosme

Neither Proponents nor any Proponent team members nor any of their respective advisors, employees, or representatives shall contact or attempt to contact, either directly or indirectly, at any time during the RFP process, any of the following persons on matters related to this RFP process, the RFP documents, or the Proposals: (a) any member of the Evaluation Committee; (b) any advisor of LUMA for this RFP process; (c) any LUMA employee or representative; (d) any directors, officers, or consultants of LUMA.

Proponents and members of their team are prohibited from directly or indirectly contacting other Proponents, such as directors, officials, employees, consultants, advisers, agents, or representatives in matters related to their Proposal preparation, content, or presentation. Failure to comply with these communication restrictions will result in the rejection of the Proponent's Proposal.

Proposals shall be submitted with no connection to, knowledge of, information comparison, or arrangement, with other Proponents including their directors, officials, employees, consultants, advisers, agents, or representatives.

All communications between LUMA and Proponent shall be in the English language.

#### 6.4 Non-Binding Nature & Validity of Proposal



The procurement process is not intended to create and shall not create a formal legally binding bidding process and shall instead be governed by the laws applicable to direct commercial negotiations. For greater certainty and without limitation: (a) the RFP shall not give rise to any legal obligations; and (b) neither the Proponent nor LUMA shall have the right to make any breach of contract, tort, or other claims against the other concerning the award of a contract, failure to award a contract or failure to honor a response to the RFP.

The RFP process is intended to identify prospective vendors to negotiate potential agreements. No legal relationship or obligation regarding the procurement of any good or service shall be created between the Proponent and LUMA by the RFP process until the successful negotiation and execution of a written agreement for the acquisition of such goods and/or services.

Proponent must submit a proposal that is valid for no less than ninety (90) days, however, LUMA prefers that the proposals have a validity of up to one hundred and twenty (120) days.

#### 7. RFP TIMELINE

The following schedule is to advise all Proponents of key dates of the RFP process. Please note that the RFP timeline includes target dates that are subject to change. It is the sole responsibility of Proponent to monitor PowerAdvocate® for updates to the RFP timeline.

Milestone	Targeted Timeline (to be executed no later than)
Request for Proposal issued	Wednesday, December 28, 2022
Q&A: Question(s) from Proponent due, via the <b>Messaging</b> tab in PowerAdvocate®	Wednesday, January 4, 2023
Q&A: LUMA to answer question(s)	Wednesday, January 11, 2023
Intent to bid document due, attached via the <b>Messaging</b> tab in PowerAdvocate	Monday, January 16, 2023
<b>RFP proposal submission due</b> , via the PowerAdvocate® tabs noted in Section 6, "Request for Proposal Submission"	Monday, January 30, 2023
LUMA to notify of selection of one or more Proponents to enter negotiations	Monday, February 20, 2023
LUMA to issue award of business	Subject to approval from regulatory bodies, as applicable

Proposal submissions that have not been completely uploaded by Monday, January 30, 2023, 8:00 p.m., Atlantic Standard Time ("AST"), will not be considered. Proponents are encouraged to allow enough time to upload their Proposals and to confirm that the files are available for LUMA's review.

#### 8. GENERAL EXPECTATIONS

Proponent shall demonstrate the following behaviors when performing the services described in this RFP:

- Provide knowledge, experience, and technical competence in the development and implementation of a Land & Permits Management Systems.
  - o Bi-weekly meetings with team to discuss status on system development
  - Collaborate with team to achieve integration of system with LUMA GIS
  - Provide technical assistance, as required by LUMA.
- Capability to migrate all current data into the new system.

#### 9. SCOPE OF SERVICES

LUMA requires the Proponent to complete the following services in accordance with the requirements below.

#### 9.1 <u>Scope of Services</u>

Proponent will Land & Permits Management solution for 35 users accounts. The following services are included in the scope of this RFP:



# 9.1.1 Project/Capital Permits Tracking

- 9.1.1.1 Send automated email notifications for due dates or due tasks to assigned users.
- **9.1.1.2** Have a field where the user can categorize the type of permit, based on this information the system shall be able to assign to a pre-established user.
- **9.1.1.3** Adjust to LUMA's permits workflow.
- 9.1.1.4 Reference the permit record to an asset/parcel or project.
- **9.1.1.5** Create monthly reports with permit status information.
- **9.1.1.6** Store complementary documentation or photos.
- **9.1.1.7** Enable a comment section and have capabilities for commenting next to the attached documents.
- 9.1.1.8 Send emails through the system to other users and outside parties.
- **9.1.1.9** Receive documents from outside parties directly to the system and add the documents to the specific permit record (good to have).
- 9.1.1.10 Create business letter or notifications based on specific user input field.
- **9.1.1.11** Configure forms for field inspections.

# 9.1.2 Landowner Database

- **9.1.2.1** Link landowner information to an asset (transmission line, substation, transmission central, distribution line).
- **9.1.2.2** Georeference landowner information in the GIS.
- **9.1.2.3** Create list of landowners linked to the asset being reviewed/assessed.
- **9.1.2.4** Add information of the property like conditions and preferred entrance points.
- **9.1.2.5** Enable a comments section, and have capabilities for commenting next to the attached documents.
- **9.1.2.6** Store complementary documentation or photos.
- 9.1.2.7 Create business letter or notifications based on specific user input field.
- 9.1.2.8 Send emails through the system to other users and outside parties.
- 9.1.2.9 Configure forms for field visits.
- **9.1.2.10** Include the following information in all landowner records:
  - o Cadaster number
  - Coordinates (Latitude & Longitude)
  - Name & Last Name
  - o Address
  - o Phone
  - Email
  - Other reference person
  - Asset status:
    - Owned
    - Lease

#### 9.1.3 Payment Integration

- **9.1.3.1** Track payments.
- **9.1.3.2** Keep track of all payments that happen under the same project.
- 9.1.3.3 Create reports to be shared with finance.
- 9.1.3.4 Store documents regarding the payment.

# 9.1.4 Land Acquisition Tracking

**9.1.4.1** Send automated email notifications for due dates or due tasks to assigned users.



- **9.1.4.2** Adjust to LUMA's land acquisition workflow.
- 9.1.4.3 Reference the land acquisition record to an asset/parcel or project.
- 9.1.4.4 Georeference the acquisition in the GIS.
- 9.1.4.5 Able to color code acquisition based on status on the GIS.
- **9.1.4.6** Create monthly reports with land acquisition status information.
- 9.1.4.7 Store complementary documentation or photos.
- **9.1.4.8** Enable a comment section and have capabilities for commenting next to the attached documents.
- **9.1.4.9** Categorize attachments.
- 9.1.4.10 Send emails through the system to other users and outside parties.
- 9.1.4.11 Create business letter or notifications based on specific user input field.
- 9.1.4.12 Configure forms for field inspections.

#### 9.1.5 Land Encroachment Tracking

- **9.1.5.1** Send automated email notifications for due dates or due tasks to assigned users.
- **9.1.5.2** Adjust to LUMA's land encroachment workflow.
- 9.1.5.3 Georeference the encroachment in the GIS.
- 9.1.5.4 Create monthly reports with land encroachment status information.
- 9.1.5.5 Store complementary documentation or photos.
- **9.1.5.6** Enable a comment section and have capabilities for commenting next to the attached documents.
- 9.1.5.7 Categorize attachments.
- 9.1.5.8 Send emails through the system to other users and outside parties.
- 9.1.5.9 Create business letter or notifications based on specific user input field.
- 9.1.5.10 Configure forms for field inspections.

#### 9.1.6 Overall System

- **9.1.6.1** Calendar where users can assess their commitments and obligations as well as those of their department coworkers.
- 9.1.6.2 Serve as a tracking tool for new cases/projects (assign case numbers and open new files)
- **9.1.6.3** Be able to assign create and track task for the different users.
- 9.1.6.4 Associate the information in the different modules with a specific project or asset.
- 9.1.6.5 Security levels (read, edit, admin).
- 9.1.6.6 Dashboard capabilities.
- 9.1.6.7 Esri GIS integration.
- 9.1.6.8 Data Migration.
- 9.1.6.9 Software data can be exported to be used with different service vendor.
- **9.1.6.10** Software needs to be hosted on LUMA servers.

#### 9.2 Geographic Scope

Services can be provided on-island and off-island. Training is preferred on-island.

#### 9.3 Resourcing Requirements & Specifications

The proponent shall assign adequate staffing and personnel requirements including specialists to complete system development, integration, training, and technical support.



# 9.4 Support Function Requirements

#### 9.4.1 Technology & Systems

Proponent must comply with LUMA Cyber Security Standards:

- 9.4.1.1 NIST publications, including 800.53, and the NIST Privacy Framework
- 9.4.1.2 NERC-CIP; ISA 62443; and FEDRAMP
- 9.4.1.3 Center for Internet Security (CIS) Critical Security Controls, and
- 9.4.1.4 ISO/IEC 27001; ISO/IEC 27002; ISO/IEC 27701; and ISO/IEC 29100
- **9.4.1.5** ISACA's COBIT, and other ISACA best practices, including the IT Risk Management Framework
- **9.4.1.6** American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) best practices, including the Privacy Management Framework and AICPA Trust Services Criteria (TSC)
- 9.4.1.7 Cloud Security Alliance (CSA) Controls
- **9.4.1.8** Relevant laws, privacy and confidentiality requirements, regulations, and compliance requirements applicable in Puerto Rico and geographic locations where LUMA operates.

#### 9.5 Account Management

LUMA requires Proposals from Proponents to perform the services and activities in accordance with requirements below, related to account management.

#### 9.5.1 Invoicing

Invoices will be submitted by the Proponent to LUMA based on per month completed work or when each stage of the project is completed.

#### 9.5.2 Account Management Requirement

Proponent shall provide a schedule that includes major project milestones that include vendor onboarding, software configuration, data migration and training. Proponent shall update this schedule monthly throughout the project lifecycle. Proponent will maintain original electronic copies of each version of the Program schedule. Proponent shall provide main contact that includes management and oversight of all activities performed by offeror personnel, to satisfy the requirements identified in this RFP.

#### **10. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS, EVALUATION, & SELECTION PROCESS**

The purpose of this RFP is to receive Proposals that meet LUMA's requirements and clearly establish the Proponent's approach to successfully provide the services. LUMA will review all the Proposals in a timely manner to determine if they comply with the requirements of the RFP. Proposals that do not meet the submission requirements or have omitted material documents may be rejected.

Each Proposal meeting all submission requirements will be independently evaluated by the Evaluation Committee ("Evaluation Committee"), which will assign a score for each evaluation criteria listed below in this section, up to the maximum points, unless they are determined to be non-responsive according to the purposes and requirements of the RFP.

LUMA may reserve the right to require additional information or clarifications after the Proposal submission due date as described in Section 7, "RFP Timeline", in order to assist the Evaluation Committee to gain additional understanding of the Proposal.

If there is any conflict or inconsistency between the terms of this RFP and terms implied by any custom, policy, practice, usage or agreement in the industry or trade, or any other policy or practice, or any term implied by or any decision rendered by any court, the terms of this RFP shall govern and prevail.

#### 10.1 Proposal Requirements

See Section 6, "Request for Proposal Submission" for details. Proponents must upload their completed Proposal documents in the corresponding PowerAdvocate® tab, as noted in Section 6, "Request for Proposal Submission". A table of contents must be included, indicating the section and the page number where the



Proposal meets the criteria stated below in the exact order herein.

All documents created by the Proponent (except allowable brochures, addenda to Response Sheet, or preprinted reference materials) should be formatted as follows:

- Paper Size: 8.5 x 11 inch
- **Minimum Font Size:** 11 point (except for footnotes, headers, or footers)
- Ready for Printing: All electronic files submitted will be pre-formatted for printing
- **Software:** All electronic files submitted should be created (or fully compatible) with the following software suites or packages: Microsoft Office, Microsoft Project, or Adobe Acrobat
- Language: English

#### 10.1.1 Approach to Services Fulfillment

**10.1.1.1** The proposed solutions shall demonstrate understanding of the department's requirements, timeline roadmap and customization for an integrated platform and application that is easy to implement, easy to manage, and easy to use.

#### 10.1.2 Approach to Account Management

**10.1.2.1** The proposed solutions shall demonstrate understanding of the department's requirements, timeline roadmap and customization for an integrated platform and application that is easy to implement, easy to manage, and easy to use.

#### 10.1.3 <u>Response Sheet</u>

Upload a complete and accurate response sheet, included as Attachment C – "Response Sheet" onto the **Commercial and Administrative** tab, in the Microsoft Excel format. Proponent shall include information regarding requested authorization, cover letter, table of contents, and company information.

#### 10.1.4 Draft Contract

A draft of the LUMA contract template that is intended to be used for this RFP is included as Attachment E – Draft Contract. The selected template for this RFP and the content included in the template are subject to change. Proponent to upload (in the **Commercial and Administrative** tab) a copy of the draft contract, in the Microsoft Word format, with any comments or tracked changes, as applicable, clearly identifying and explaining the concern. Proponent may include any proposed modifications to a specific language in the contract with which it disagrees, or it is unable to comply, and must include a detailed explanation of the proposed modification. If Proponent agrees with the contract language and can comply with all its terms, conditions and requirements, it will specify this in writing.

A proponent shall state in its proposal any and all exceptions it may have to the terms and conditions of the proposed contract. If the proponent does not state an exception at that time, the proponent is deemed to have accepted all the terms and conditions to which no exception was made, and these terms and conditions will be binding on the proponent if the proposed contract is awarded to it and executed. No negotiations will be admitted of a term and condition to which the proponent made no exception in its proposal. If the exceptions made by the proponent to the terms and conditions of the proposed contract are deemed to be excessive in kind, in number, or in materiality, that by itself will be a sufficient reason for the contract not to be awarded to the proponent. An exception means any change, amendment, or variation or proposed substitution, replacement, or elimination of a term and condition. When an exception is made, the proponent shall state the reasons for the exceptions are allowed after the proponent makes its proposal. (Reference: LUMA Procurement Manual p. 24, Phase 3: Contract Execution, Step no. 24.)

#### 10.1.5 Supplementary Information

May provide supplementary facts or information if they consider it will be helpful in the evaluation of their



Proposals. Proponents are encouraged to be selective with this information to ensure it is relevant.

#### 10.1.6 <u>Redacted Copy</u>

Upload a redacted copy of their Proposal as required in Section 16, "Confidentiality of Responses and Proprietary Information".

#### 10.1.7 Requirement of Legal Entities

Proponents that are corporations, partnerships, or any other legal entity, U.S. or Puerto Rico based, shall be properly registered or capable to be registered, or capable and willing to be registered to do business in Puerto Rico and the U.S. at the time of the submission of their Proposals, and comply with all applicable Puerto Rico or U.S. laws and/or requirements.

Submit evidence that it is duly and properly organized and is qualified to do business in Puerto Rico or provide a statement confirming that the Proponent will be qualified prior to contract execution if selected. A selected Proponent must be part of LUMA's Supplier Registry in order to execute a contract. More details are included in Attachment E – LUMA's Vendor Registry Requirements.

#### 10.1.8 Required Qualifications of Proponent

Provide information and/or certifications in Proposal that demonstrate the following:

- **10.1.8.1** Certify that neither it nor any person or entity who is partnering with it has been the subject of any adverse findings that would prevent LUMA from selecting it. Such adverse findings include, but are not limited to, the following:
  - Negative findings from a Federal Inspector General or from the U.S. Government Accountability Office, or from an Inspector General in another state.
  - Pending or unresolved legal action from the U.S. Attorney General or from the U.S an attorney general in Puerto Rico or another state.
  - Arson conviction or pending case
  - Harassment conviction or pending case.
  - Puerto Rico and Federal or private mortgage arrears, default, or foreclosure proceedings
  - In rem foreclosure.
  - Sale tax lien or substantial tax arrears.
  - Fair Housing violations or current litigation.
  - Defaults under any Federal and Puerto Rico-sponsored program.
  - A record of substantial building code violations or litigation against properties owned and/or managed by Proponents or by any entity or individual that comprises Proponents.
  - Past or pending voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings.
  - Conviction(s) for fraud, bribery, or grand larceny.
  - Debarment (sam.gov).

10.1.8.2 Disclose any potential conflicts of interest as described in Section 17, "Conflicts of Interest".

**10.1.8.3** Document any concerns regarding the qualifications detailed in this RFP.

#### 10.1.9 Pricing

Complete pricing data sheet included as Attachment D – "Pricing Sheet", in the **Pricing Data** tab. Note that the sheet requires a detailed component breakdown.

- a. Authorization to submit response
- b. Company Information
  - a. Financial health and reputation
  - b. References of similar projects
  - c. Details & experience



- c. Packages/Applications information
- d. Pricing
  - a. Licensing Fees
  - b. Configuration
  - c. Customization
  - d. Data Migration
  - e. Integration with LUMA systems
  - f. Training
  - g. Maintenance
  - h. Upgrades
  - i. Project Management
- e. Project Schedule

# **11. EVALUATION CRITERIA**

Each Proposal meeting all submission requirements stated above will be independently evaluated by the Evaluation Committee, which will assign a score for each evaluation criterion listed, up to the maximum points.

#### 11.1 <u>Company ( 20 pts.)</u>

**11.1.1** Proponent will be evaluated on overall company, including but not limited to:

- Financial stability, health, and reputation
- Experience and capacity in the relevant market
- Company culture and involvement in the Puerto Rican community

# 11.2 Approach to Services Fulfillment ( 20 pts.)

- **11.2.1** Proponent will be evaluated on ability to provide the services in accordance with any applicable specifications provided by LUMA and generally accepted standards of professionalism, skill, workmanship, and applicable trade practices and shall conform to all applicable codes, laws and regulations.
- **11.2.2** Proponent will be evaluated on overall service governance, including resourcing and mobilization strategies.

# 11.3 Approach to Account Management ( 30 pts.)

- **11.3.1** Proponent will be evaluated on customer service approach (i.e. approach to ensuring customer satisfaction).
- **11.3.2** Proponent will be evaluated on approach to training for both Proponent's personnel and LUMA personnel.
- **11.3.3** Proponent will be evaluated on technological capabilities, use, and implementation within LUMA.
- **11.3.4** Proponent will be evaluated on value-added services, such as continuous improvement programs, innovation, cost management, etc.

#### 11.4 Commercial (30 pts.)

- **11.4.1** Proponent will be evaluated on defined price and available discounts.
- **11.4.2** Proponent will be evaluated on cost for additional value-added services.
- **11.4.3** Proponent will be evaluated on comments and revisions to LUMA draft contract and key business terms.

Award of the RFP will be to the/those qualified and experienced person(s)/company/companies whose Proposals, comply with the terms and conditions of this RFP.

- **0** = **Not Applicable** For example, the information provided in the Proposal was not applicable to the criteria or was omitted
- **1** = **Poor** For example, the criteria presented in the Proposal does not meet the requirements set by LUMA
- 2 = Below Average, Negative, or Disagree For example, the criteria presented in the Proposal meets



most of the requirements set by LUMA

- 3 = Average or Neutral For example, the criteria presented in the Proposal meets all of the requirements set by LUMA
- 4 = Good, Positive, or Agree For example, the criteria presented in the Proposal meets all of the requirements set by LUMA and exceeds LUMA expectations
- 5 = Excellent, Very Positive, or Strongly Agree For example, the criteria presented in the Proposal best meets all of the requirements set by LUMA and exceeds LUMA expectations, above all other Proposals.

#### 12. PROPOSAL CLARIFICATION REQUESTS

LUMA reserves the right, at any time, whether prior to or after the preparation of the list of short-listed Proponents (if applicable), to request that any one or more Proponents clarify its Proposal in accordance with these RFP instructions. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, LUMA may request clarification where any one or more Proponent's intent is unclear (including, where there is an irregularity or omission in the information or documents provided by Proponents in their Proposals). LUMA may, in its discretion, choose to meet with one, some, or all Proponents to clarify any aspects of their Proposals. LUMA may require Proponents to submit supplementary documents clarifying any matters contained in their Proposals or LUMA may prepare a written interpretation of any aspect of a Proposal (including, meeting minutes) and seek the respective Proponent's acknowledgment of that interpretation.

#### **13. INTERVIEW**

Proponent may be required to attend meetings at LUMA's offices in San Juan, Puerto Rico, United States, or elsewhere as directed by LUMA, for clarifications of technical, commercial, or other components of its Proposal during the Proposal evaluation period or at such other dates and times as required by LUMA, all at LUMA's discretion. Not all Proponents may be asked to present and those requested to present will be at the discretion of LUMA including LUMA's Evaluation Committee.

Proponents are solely responsible for all costs or expenses incurred to attend and participate in the oral presentation process. The rejection of a Proponent to participate in an oral presentation may be cause for a rejection of a Proposal. Requirements for in-person presentations or meetings are subject to change based on local protocols regarding the COVID-19 coronavirus.

#### 14. SELECTION OF PROPONENTS FOR NEGOTIATIONS

#### 14.1 Selection Process for Negotiations

- **14.1.1** LUMA will, acting in its discretion and following the submission deadline, select one or more Proponents to enter negotiations with LUMA. LUMA will use all reasonable efforts to indicate to a Proponent in writing that it has been selected to enter into negotiations.
- **14.1.2** At LUMA's discretion the selection process may occur in multiple stages and Proponents not initially selected may be invited to enter negotiations with LUMA following the commencement of negotiations with other Proponents.

#### 14.2 <u>Negotiation of a Final Agreement</u>

- **14.2.1** LUMA will enter into negotiations with one or more selected Proponents. In the event LUMA enters into negotiations with more than one selected Proponent, such negotiations will be concurrent. LUMA will provide each of the selected Proponents with any additional information and will seek further information and Proposal improvements from each of the selected Proponents.
- **14.2.2** Following the negotiations, each of the selected Proponents will be invited to revise its initial Proposal and submits its best and final offer ("BAFO") to LUMA.
- **14.2.3** The BAFO of each of the selected Proponents will be evaluated against the same criteria as the initial Proposals submitted by the selected Proponents. The top-ranked Proponent will then be selected to enter into a final round of non-binding discussions and negotiations to determine the possibility of LUMA and such Proponent entering into a final written agreement for the provision of all, or part of, the services. Any such final agreement will be based on the contract draft. The terms of the contract draft that will be included with this RFP may be materially altered as a result of the



above discussions, negotiations, changes, amendments, or modifications between LUMA and the successful Proponent.

- **14.2.4** LUMA reserves the right, in its discretion, to identify one or more successful Proponents who will enter into a final round of non-binding discussions, and negotiations to determine the possibility of LUMA and such Proponent entering into a final written agreement for the provision of all, or part of, the services as a result of those negotiations.
- **14.2.5** LUMA shall incur no liabilities to any Proponent as a result of, or arising from, a failure to enter into a final written agreement in relation to the services.
- **14.2.6** LUMA reserves the right, in its discretion, to choose not to engage in the BAFO process, and to proceed to enter into direct negotiations with the top Proponent.

# 14.3 Non-Selection of a Proponent

**14.3.1** LUMA will use reasonable efforts to notify an unsuccessful Proponent if it has not been initially selected for negotiations. If Proponent is unsuccessful, it agrees that by submitting a Proposal it will not have a claim for, and hereby irrevocably, absolutely and finally releases LUMA from, any breach of procedural fairness, including where the terms of any final agreement differ from those in the contract draft (whether materially or otherwise) that will be included in the RFP.

#### 14.4 LUMA's Discretion to Select Proponents

**14.4.1** The decision to select a Proponent for further negotiation and discussion by LUMA is contingent upon LUMA's sole determination, acting in its discretion, that it is in the best interests of LUMA to select such Proponent, in whole or in part, based upon any factors LUMA determines are relevant, including expertise, quality, timeliness, reputation, price, reliability, safety, creditworthiness, access to funds, dates for performance of the services, etc. LUMA is under no obligation to provide any explanation of the reasons for its choices.

#### **15. RIGHT TO REJECT PROPOSAL**

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, LUMA reserves the right, in its discretion, to reject and not review any Proposal which does not comply with or meet the requirements set out in the RFP.

Notwithstanding anything else contained in the RFP, express or implied, LUMA may procure the services in such manner as it may elect, in its discretion, and reserves the following rights, in its discretion to:

- reject or select a Proponent for negotiations or submission of a BAFO;
- request clarifications or enter into discussions or negotiations in respect of the services with one or more Proponents or their respective partners, consortium members, or joint venturers at any time;
- enter into one or more agreements for the supply or performance of all or any part of the services with
  one or more Proponents or their respective partners, consortium members, or joint venturers, upon
  the same or different terms and conditions as set forth in the RFP or a BAFO, for the purpose of
  obtaining the best agreement possible for all or any part of the services that LUMA, in its discretion,
  deems to be in LUMA's best interests;
- discuss the terms of a Proposal submitted by a Proponent for the purposes of clarification and negotiation, which discussions may or may not result in the final agreement entered into between LUMA and Proponent being substantially different from the terms and conditions of the RFP;
- cancel all or any portion of this Proposal process at any time, without prior notice to Proponent, and procure the services, or any portion of the services, by some other means or obtain all or any portion of the services from one or more potential Proponents or any other third party or parties of LUMA's choice and on terms and conditions of LUMA's choosing; and
- enter into a contract (including a contract which is substantially the same as the contract draft) in respect of the services, or a portion or portions thereof, with any other third parties.

#### 16. CONFIDENTIALITY OF RESPONSES & PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

Upon completion of the RFP process, LUMA will make its report public regarding the procurement and selection



process, which shall contain certain information related to this RFP process, except trade secrets and proprietary or privileged information of the Proponents. Information considered trade secrets or non-published financial data might be classified as proprietary by the Proponents. In order to ensure that documents identified by Proponents as confidential or proprietary will not be subject to disclosure by LUMA, Proponents are required to submit a redacted copy of their Proposal. The redacted copy must include a written explanation of why such labeled documents are confidential or proprietary, including why the disclosure of the information would be commercially harmful, specifically refer to any legal protection currently enjoyed by such information and why the disclosure of such information would not be necessary for the protection of the public interest, and request that the documents so labeled be treated as confidential by LUMA. LUMA reserves the right to make public the redacted copies of the Proposals at the conclusion of the RFP process. If a redacted copy is not submitted by a Proponent, LUMA will assume that the original copy of the Proposal can be made public. Proposals containing substantial contents marked as confidential or proprietary may be rejected by LUMA. Provision of any information marked as confidential or proprietary may be rejected by LUMA. Provision of any information marked as confidential or proprietary may be rejected by LUMA. Provision of any information marked as confidential or proprietary may be rejected by LUMA. Provision of any information marked as confidential or proprietary may be rejected by LUMA. Provision of any information marked as confidential or proprietary may be rejected by LUMA. Provision of any information marked as confidential or proprietary may be rejected by LUMA. Provision of any information marked as confidential or proprietary shall not prevent LUMA from disclosing such information if required by law. The executed contract(s), if any, and all prices set for

#### 17. CONFLICT(S) OF INTEREST

Any contract awarded under this RFP will preclude the selected Proponents from representing before LUMA any Proponent other than those Proponents who may be assigned under this contract during its effectiveness.

An apparent conflict of interest is an existing situation or relationship that would cause a reasonable person to think that a Covered Party's judgment is likely to be compromised because the Covered Party, their agent, any member of his or her immediate family, or an organization which employs or is about the employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a financial or other interest in or would derive a tangible benefit from a decision or action to be taken by LUMA or PREPA, including but not limited to contract awards. A Covered Party is a parent company, affiliate, or subsidiary organization of PREPA or LUMA.

Proponent certifies that:

- none of its representatives are employed by and receive payment or compensation for such employment from any governmental agency, body, public corporation or municipality of Puerto Rico;
- no Puerto Rico government employee has any personal or economic interest in this Proposal;
- it may have service contracts with other governmental agencies, bodies, public corporations, or municipalities of Puerto Rico, but such contracts do not constitute a conflict of interest for Proponent; and
- to the best of its knowledge, at the time of this RFP publishing date, it does not have any other contractual relationship that could be deemed to constitute a conflict of interest with LUMA or with public policy.

Proponent acknowledges that it has a duty of ethical behavior towards LUMA. Such duty includes that Proponent shall not have interests that conflict with LUMA's interest in this Proposal or the services performed pursuant to this Proposal. Those conflicting interests include:

- the representation of clients which have, or may have, interests opposed to those of LUMA in relation to the services (if applicable based on the type of services to be performed by the Proponent);
- when Proponent's conduct is described as such in the canons of ethics that may be applicable to the Proponent and its personnel or in the laws or regulations applicable to the Proponent and its personnel assigned to the services; or
- when the Proponent, persons that control the Proponent, or Proponent's employees, directors, or
  officers directly or indirectly, for themselves or any other third party, obtain, request or give to LUMA
  or an employee, officer, director or agent of LUMA, any profit, utility, advantage or gain by way of
  improper acts or exercise of undue influence.

Proponent agrees to avoid even the appearance of a conflict of interest. The mere appearance of a conflict of



interest shall constitute sufficient cause for the rejection of a Proposal(s). LUMA will cancel any contract executed pursuant to this RFP in the event of a conflict of interest, or if the appearance of a conflict of interest is not cured immediately to LUMA's satisfaction.

Proponent shall have the continuous obligation to disclose to LUMA if any relationship with third parties could represent a conflict of interest with LUMA in connection with this RFP or the services.

# 18. SUBMITTAL OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

# 18.1 <u>Rejection of Submittals; Cancellation of RFP and Waiver Informalities</u>

This RFP process does not constitute a commitment by LUMA to award the RFP and execute a contract. LUMA reserves the right to accept or reject, in whole or in part, and without further explanation, any or all Proposals submitted and/or cancel this solicitation and reissue this RFP or another version of it, if it deems that doing so is in LUMA's best interest.

LUMA reserves the right to waive minor informalities or deviations in a Proposal if in the best interest of LUMA and if they do not affect the technical and professional requirements, payment terms, deliverables, warranties, and the contract terms and conditions.

#### 18.2 Ownership of Submittal

All materials submitted in response to this RFP shall become the property of LUMA. Selection or rejection of a submittal does not affect this provision.

#### 18.3 Cost of Preparing Responses

All costs associated with the response to this RFP are the sole responsibility of the Proponent. Neither LUMA, PREPA, the Government of Puerto Rico, nor any of its instrumentalities or entities of the Federal Government will be responsible for any expenses incurred or for the disclosure of any information or material received in connection with this RFP.

#### 18.4 Proposal Errors, Omissions, and Modifications

A Proponent may modify or withdraw its Proposal at any time before the due date (closing date in PowerAdvocate®) as established in the RFP Timeline. All modifications must be made in writing and will be submitted in the same manner as the original Proposal per the terms of this RFP. The Proponent shall submit its modified Proposal along with a cover letter with the modified RFP and shall include Proponent's name, contact information, mailing address, submission date, modification number, and the Project Title.

Timely withdrawal of a Proposal does not preclude Proponent's right to submit another Proposal provided if it is submitted by the due date. Withdrawals must be notified before the due of the Proposals, in writing, through the **Messaging** tab, or by deleting the uploaded Proposal documents from the event before the closing date of the RFP.

LUMA reserves the right to reject a Proposal that contains a non-minor error or omission. LUMA also reserves the right to request corrections of any minor errors or omissions and/or to request any clarification or additional information from any or all Proponents. The determination of a non-minor or minor error or omission will be at LUMA's sole discretion.

# **19. NO LOBBYING, NO COLLUSION, & NO PROHIBITED ACTS**

Neither the Proponent nor any member of their team, including their respective directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, advisers, or representatives (as it relates to the project or RFP) is allowed to participate in any way or in any type of political or other lobbying; nor can they communicate in any way with any representative of the Evaluation Committee or any LUMA employee, including any Restricted Party such as any director, officer, employee, agent, advisor, staff member, consultant, or representative of any of the aforementioned parties, as applicable, for any purposes, including, but not limited to:

• to comment or try to influence the opinion on the merits of a Proposal, or in relation to the Proposal of another Proponent;



- to influence, or to try to influence, the result of the RFP phase, or the competitive selection process, including the review, evaluation, and classification of the Proposals, the selection of the selected Proponent, or any negotiation with the selected Proponent;
- to promote their interests or those of the Proponent in the project, including the interests of another Proponent;
- to criticize or comment on aspects of the RFP, the competitive selection process, or the project, in any way that can give a competitive advantage or any other advantage to the Proponent over other Proponent; and,
- to criticize the Proposal of another Proponent.

The Proponent or members of its team shall not discuss or communicate, directly or indirectly, with any other Proponent, or any director, officer, employee, consultant, adviser, agent, or representative of any other Proponent, including any member of the team of any other Proponent, regarding the preparation, content or representation of their Proposals. Proposals will be submitted without any connection (for example, arising from an interest in or from a Proponent or member of a Proponent's team), knowledge, comparison of information, or arrangement, with any other Proponent or any director, officer, employee, consultant, advisor, agent or representative of any other Proponent, including any member of the team of any other Proponent. To ensure this, all potential Proponents must sign and accept a Confidentiality Agreement, prior to having access to any of the documents that have been selected to be protected through the Confidentiality Agreement. The violation of the agreements and instructions included in this section will be enough cause for the rejection of the Proponent's participation in this RFP. LUMA also reserves the right to separate and eliminate definitively the Proponent from LUMA's Registry of Suppliers; this, in addition to the legal and financial sanctions which may be imposed as a result of one or several of the violations previously mentioned.

#### 20. SAFETY, HEALTH, & ENVIRONMENT REGULATIONS

Proponent must comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act, 42 USC 7401, and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 USC 1251, and other appropriate requirements of Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office. Also, the contractor must comply with the Safety and Health Regulations 29 CFR 1926 and 29 CFR 1910, and other appropriate requirements of Occupational Safety and Health Regional Office (PROSHA) and Federal Office (OSHA).

#### 21. DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, & INELIGIBILITY

Federal regulations restrict LUMA from contracting with parties that are debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded from or ineligible for participation in Federal assistance programs and activities, where the contract is funded in whole or in part with federal funds. Proponents shall submit a certification of Suspension or Debarment Status to this RFP by submitting to LUMA a completed version of the form set forth in Attachment I – Suspension or Debarment Status Certification.

Accordingly, a contract or subcontract must not be made with any parties listed on the SAM Exclusions list. SAM Exclusions is the list maintained by the General Services Administration that contains the name of parties debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties declared ineligible under certain statutory or regulatory authority. Proponents can verify their status and the status of their principals, affiliates, and subcontractors at www.SAM.gov. A copy of their current status should be submitted with their Proposal.

#### 22. ATTACHMENTS & EXHIBITS

- Attachment A PowerAdvocate® Guide
- Attachment B Question and Answer Form
- Attachment C Response Sheet
- Attachment D Pricing Sheet
- Attachment E Draft Contract
- Attachment F LUMA's Vendor Registry Requirements
- Attachment G Notice of Intent to Bid
- Attachment H Consolidated Procurement Manual
- Attachment I Suspension or Debarment Status Certification